THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

73,841

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

JAMES MILES, a/k/a ERROL BROWN,

Respondent.

FILED
J. WHITE
MAR 22 1969
SUPREME COURT
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

* * * * *

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

* * * * *

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
Attorney General
Tallahassee, Florida

DEBORA J. TURNER
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building
Florida Regional Service Center
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue (Suite N921)
Miami, Florida 33128
(305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, **THE STATE OF FLORIDA**, was the Appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida and the prosecution in the trial court, the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida. The Respondent, **JAMES MILES, a/k/a ERROL BROWN**, was the Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court. The symbol "A" will be used to designate the Appendix to this brief. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, **JAMES MILES, a/k/a ERROL BROWN**, was sentenced as a youthful offender in the trial court below (A. 1-2). While serving the community control portion of his sentence, Respondent's community control was revoked and the trial court imposed a sentence which exceeded the six-year limitation of Section 958.14, Florida Statutes (1987) (A. 1-2).

On appeal to the Third District, Respondent challenged his sentence and argued that the maximum sentence a court could impose after revocation of a youthful-offender's probation or community control is the six-year limitation

period set forth in the Florida Youthful Offender Act. §958.14, Fla. Stat. (1987). Following a review of this cause, the Third District rendered an opinion in which it agreed with Respondent's position (A. 1-2). In its opinion, the Third District stated the following:

We align ourselves with the second district, Buckle v. State, 528 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); Brown v. State, 492 So.2d 822 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), and the first district, Watson v. State, 528 So.2d 101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Reams v. State, 528 So.2d 558 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), in holding that the maximum sentence a court may impose after revocation of a youthful-offender's probation or community control is the six-year limitation period of the statute. §958.14, Fla. Stat. (1987).

In addition, the Third District held that the Respondent was entitled to credit for all time served in incarceration prior to the revocation of community control (A. 2). Thus, the Third District reversed and remanded this case for resentencing in accordance with its holdings (A. 2).

On November 23, 1988, Petitioner filed a Motion for Rehearing with the Third District. On December 27, 1988, Respondent served his Response. On February 7, 1989, the Third District denied Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing.¹

¹ Petitioner's motion to recall and stay the mandate below is currently pending before the Third District.

On March 8, 1989, Petitioner timely filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and this Petition follows.

ISSUE PRESENTED

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE INSTANT CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION RENDERED BY THIS COURT IN POORE V. STATE, 531 SO.2D 161 (FLA. 1988) AND THE DECISION RENDERED BY THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN FRANKLIN V. STATE, 526 SO.2D 159 (FLA. 5TH DCA 1988).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in the case sub judice directly and expressly conflicts with the decision of this Court in Poore and the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Franklin. Specifically, the Third District has required a sentencing remedy different from that provided by this Court and the Fifth District in cases where a youthful offender has violated his probation or community control. Therefore, in order to resolve this conflict, discretionary review of this cause should be granted.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE INSTANT CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION RENDERED BY THIS COURT IN POORE V. STATE, 531 SO.2D 161 (FLA. 1988) AND THE DECISION RENDERED BY THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN FRANKLIN V. STATE, 526 SO.2D 159 (FLA. 5TH DCA 1988).

Pursuant to Florida law, the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court may be sought to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a rule of law previously announced in a decision of another district court of appeal or in a decision of this Court. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv); Combs v. State, 436 So.2d 93, 94 (Fla. 1983); Mancini v. State, 312 So.2d 732, 733 (Fla. 1975). In the case sub judice, the opinion of the Third District conflicts with this Court's decision in Poore v. State, 531 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1988), and the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Franklin v. State, 526 So.2d 159 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), on the same question of law. Specifically, the Third District's opinion below requires a sentencing remedy different from that provided in Poore and Franklin with respect to youthful offenders who have violated their probation or community control. In view of this conflict, discretionary jurisdiction should be accepted by this Court so that a

uniform sentencing remedy may be pronounced and implemented throughout this State.²

On May 24, 1988, the Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion in Franklin v. State, 526 So.2d 159 (Fla. 1988). In Franklin, 526 So.2d at 163, the Fifth District held that "in sentencing a defendant to incarceration followed by probation the court is limited only by the guidelines and the statutory maximum in punishing a defendant after a violation of probation." In addition, the Franklin court concluded as follows:

Although the Youthful Offender Act was amended in 1985 to provide that no youthful offender shall be committed to the department upon a violation of probation for a period longer than six years or the statutory maximum, whichever is less, the amendment does not require a court to reclassify a defendant as a youthful offender after a violation.

Id. In Franklin, 526 So.2d at 163-64, the Fifth District made clear that "a defendant may be sentenced to a term of incarceration to be followed by a period of probation and **if the probation is violated** after the term of incarceration has been completed, the defendant may nevertheless be resentenced to any term which could have originally been imposed without violating the double jeopardy clause since the resentencing is the result of [the] defendant's subsequent actions."

² Respondent notes that this case presents the same issue raised in State v. Johnson, Case No. 86-718 (Fla. 3d DCA Nov. 29, 1988), which is currently pending before this Court.

Approximately six months later, on November 29, 1988, this Court rendered its opinion in Poore which affirmed the rationale utilized in Franklin. Moreover, in Poore, 531 So.2d at 164, this Court identified the five (5) sentencing alternatives utilized by Florida courts in sentencing defendants. With respect to youthful offenders, this Court indicated that the sentence to be imposed after a youthful-offender's probation or community control has been violated depends on the category under which the defendant was sentenced. Id. If a youthful offender was given a "probationary split sentence"³ (as in the instant case) and violated his probation, the sentencing judge could then "impose any sentence it originally might have imposed, with credit for time served and subject to the guidelines recommendation." Id. Thus, the Poore analysis focuses upon the substance of a youthful offender's initial sentence while the Third District's analysis below exalts the form of the sentence. Under the Third District's rationale in the instant case, if a defendant was originally sentenced as a youthful offender, the defendant shall continue to be treated as a youthful offender and the six-year sentencing cap is automatically invoked.

Given that the decision of the Third District in the instant case conflicts with decisions from this Court and the

³ As defined in Poore, 531 So.2d at 164, a probationary split sentence consists of a period of confinement, none of which is suspended, followed by a period of probation.

Fifth District on the same issue of law pertaining to the sentencing of youthful offenders, discretionary review of this cause is warranted. If permitted to stand, the Third District's decision below would be out of harmony with this Court's prior decision in Poore, and the Fifth District's prior decision in Franklin, thereby generating confusion and instability among the precedents. See Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1962).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to grant discretionary review in this cause.