IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 73,841

FILED SID J. WHITE MAR 21 1989 CLERK, SURREME COURT By. Deputy

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

JAMES MILES, a/k/a ERROL BROWN,

Respondent.

## ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
 of Florida
1351 Northwest 12th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-3005

ELLIOT H. SCHERKER Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Respondent

#

#### INTRODUCTION

The respondent, James Miles, was the appellant in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District, and the defendant in the trial court. The petitioner, the State of Florida, was the appellee in the District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court. The parties will be referred to in this brief as they stand before this Court.

The symbol "A" will be utilized to designate the appendix to this brief, which is comprised of the decision of the court below. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts.

-1-

#### OUESTION PRESENTED

Respondent restates petitioner's issue presented as follows:

WHETHER A CONFLICT OF DECISIONS EXISTS ON THE QUESTION WHETHER SECTION 958.14, FLORIDA STAT-UTES (1987), LIMITS YOUTHFUL-OFFENDER SEN-TENCES IMPOSED FOLLOWING A REVOCATION OF PRO-BATION OR COMMUNITY CONTROL TO SIX YEARS OF IMPRISONMENT.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

While, contrary to petitioner's argument, the decision of the court below is not in conflict with this Court's decision in **Poore v. State**, 531 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1988), there is presently a conflict of decisions between those cases which, like the decision below, have held that Section 958.14, Florida Statutes (1987), limits youthful-offender sentences on revocation of probation or community control to six years of imprisonment and the decision in **Franklin v. State**, 526 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) (en banc), which is currently pending before this Court. Disposition of the present application for review in this case should be withheld pending a final decision in **Franklin**.

(a).

#### ARGUMENT

A CONFLICT OF DECISIONS EXISTS ON THE QUESTION WHETHER SECTION 958.14, FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), LIMITS YOUTHFUL-OFFENDER SENTENCES IM-POSED FOLLOWING A REVOCATION OF PROBATION OR COMMUNITY CONTROL TO SIX YEARS OF IMPRISON-MENT.

The issue presented in this case is currently pending on a grant of discretionary review in **Franklin** v. **State**, Case No. 72,488, in which the propriety of the decision of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fifth District, in **Franklin** v. **State**,

-2-

526 So.2d 159 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), is before this Court.' The challenge to the term of imprisonment imposed by the trial court in the present case upon revocation of respondent's community-control term was that Section 958.14, Florida Statutes (1987), as amended in 1985, Ch. 85-288, § 4, Laws of Fla., limits youthful-offender sentences imposed upon a revocation of community control to six years of imprisonment. This argument was accepted by the court below (A. 1-2), as it had been by the First and Second Districts. *Buckle* v. *State*, 528 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); *Reams* v. *State*, 528 So.2d 558 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

Petitioner argues that this decision is in conflict with this Court's decision in **Poore** v. *State*, 531 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1988). Brief of Petitioner at 8. The defendant in *Poore* was classified as a youthful offender and sentenced to a total of four and one-half years in the custody of the Department of Corrections, with the trial court directing that he be confined for two and one-half years, and the remainder of the sentence suspended and a term of probation imposed for that period of time. **Poore** v. *State*, 531 So.2d at 162-63. Upon a subsequent revocation of probation, the court imposed a total of four and one-half years of imprisonment, with credit for time served. Id. at 163. The question before this Court was *only* whether double jeopardy considerations barred the imposition of a new sentence on revocation of probation, *i.e.*, whether the trial court was constitu-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In addition, as noted in petitioner's brief at page 7, there is at least one other petition for discretionary review pending before this Court on this issue.

tionally limited on revocation to ordering the defendant to serve the remainder of the original term. *Ibid*. There was *no* issue raised before this Court as to the applicability or meaning of Section **958.14**.<sup>2</sup>

This Court in *Poore* first delineated five sentencing alternatives available to trial judges in Florida:

> (1) a period of confinement; (2) a "true split sentence" consisting of a total period of confinement with a portion of the confinement period suspended and the defendant placed on probation for that suspended portion; (3) a "probationary split sentence" consisting of a period of confinement, none of which is suspended, followed by a period of probation: (4) a Villery [v. Florida Parole & Probation Commission, 396 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1981)] sentence, consisting of period of probation preceded by a period of confinement imposed as a special condition; and (5) straight probation.

*Id.* at 164. This Court held that, unless "alternative (2) is used as the original sentence," a trial court, upon revocation of probation, may "impose any sentence it originally might have imposed, with credit for time served and subject to the guidelines recommendation." *Ibid.* It is only when the sentencing court chooses to impose a "true split sentence" that "the sentencing judge in no instance may order new incarceration that exceeds the remaining balance of the withheld or suspended portion of the original sentence." *Ibid.* 

Presumably, this was because the sentence imposed by the trial court in *Poore* -- four and one-half years of imprisonment -- was *within* the six-year limitation dictated by Section 958.14. This Court thus would have had no occasion to reach the statutory question presented by this case; this fact alone illustrates the lack of merit to petitioner's argument that the decision below somehow conflicts with *Poore*.

Leaving aside for the moment the constitutional implications of **Poore** on respondent's sentence, it is plain that this Court did not address the statutory issue presented by this case. To be sure, the **Franklin** decision was cited with approval in Poore, but only to the extent that this Court "agree(d) with the court in **Franklin** that double jeopardy does not forbid the imposition of a longer period of incarceration when a [defendant] violates probation in a probationary split sentence." **Poore v. State**, 531 So.2d at 163. This Court nowhere discussed the youthful-offender statutes, much less Section 958.14, nor did it touch upon that aspect of **Franklin**.

Franklin itself is, for the most part, also a double jeopardy case. Franklin v. State, 526 So.2d at 160-63. After holding that the defendant in that case, who had been sentenced to a "probationary split sentence," *i.e.*, three years of youthful-offender incarceration followed by three years of community control, id. at 160, was not entitled to invoke double jeopardy principles to bar imposition of a new sentence upon revocation of the community-control term, id. at 162-63, the court rather summarily disposed of the six-year limitation of Section 958.14 as follows:

(C)

Although the Youthful Offender Act was amended in 1985 to provide that no youthful offender shall be committed to the department upon a violation of probation for a period longer than six years or the statutory maximum, whichever is less, the amendment does not require a court to reclassify a defendant **as** a youthful offender after a violation. Accordingly, [S]ection 948.06 [Fla. Stat. (1987)] may still be applied when the court determines that the defendant should no longer be classified as a youthful offender, allowing the

-5-

court to sentence a defendant after revocation to any term which could have been originally imposed without reference to the act.

Id. at 163 (citation omitted). Since, as previously noted, the sentence in **Poore** was lawful under Section **958.14** as interpreted by the court below in this case, see n.2, **supra**, this Court in **Poore** had no occasion to address this aspect of **Franklin** and, indeed, did not do so. It is frivolous for petitioner to suggest otherwise.

There is only the question of the conflict between Franklin and the line of decisions which culminated in the decision below. The Fifth District's construction of Section 958.14 in that case appears to rest upon the tacit assumption that the legislature used "youthful offender" to mean one thing in the first sentence of the statute, and quite another in the second sentence, *i.e.*, that the "youthful offender" who purportedly is subject to any possible sentence upon revocation of community control or probation (in the first sentence) is the person initially sentenced as a youthful offender, while the "youthful offender" whose sentence is limited to six years of incarceration (in the second sentence) is only the person who is "reclassified" as a youthful offender upon revocation. However, the word "reclassify" appears nowhere in Section 958.14, and, indeed, nowhere in the entire youthful offender chapter. If the legislature had intended what the Fifth District intuited it did, it easily could and would have provided that the six-year sentence limitation applied only to "reclassified" youthful offenders. But the legislature did not do so, and the courts cannot add words to the statute. E.g., Metropolitan

-6-

Dade County v. Bridges, 402 So.2d 411, 414 (Fla. 1981). This is precisely what the Fifth District did in Franklin. However, as noted at the outset of this brief, the continuing viability of Franklin is now before this Court.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, respondent requests this Court to withhold disposition of this cause pending resolution of the issue presented here in the **Franklin** case, or, in the alternative, to grant review and approve the decision of the court below.